
IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLORADO

Civil Action No.  00-N-1794

KIJUANA CHAMBERS,

Plaintiff,

v.

UNIVERSITY HOSPITAL, M. H. MELMED, M.D. P.C., MEIR H. MELMED, M.D., SUSAN
TOUNG HORVATH, M.D., RICHARD J. GUDVANGEN, M.D., ROCKY MOUNTAIN
WOMEN’S HEALTH CARE CENTER, P.C., WILLIAM D. SCHLAFF, M.D., 
UNIVERSITY OF COLORADO MEDICAL SERVICES FOUNDATION, D/B/A
UNIVERSITY PHYSICIANS, INC., UNIVERSITY OF COLORADO HEALTH SCIENCES
CENTER
UNIVERSITY OF COLORADO SCHOOL OF MEDICINE, REGENTS OF THE
UNIVERSITY OF COLORADO, and UNIVERSITY HOSPITAL AUTHORITY,

    Defendants,
                                                                                                                                                      

SECOND AMENDED COMPLAINT
                                                                                                                                                      

Plaintiff Kijuana Chambers, by and through her attorneys Kevin W. Williams and

LaBarre Law Offices, P.C., hereby submits this Second Amended Complaint for violations of the

Americans with Disabilities Act (“ADA”) and the Rehabilitation Act of 1973, for discrimination

on the basis of disability in the provision of reproductive services.

INTRODUCTION

1. The  Americans with Disabilities Act, 42 U.S.C. § 12101, et seq. (“ADA”), was

enacted in 1990.  One of the principal goals of the ADA was the integration of people with

disabilities into our economic and social life.  
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2. Title III of the ADA provides that “[n]o individual shall be discriminated against

on the basis of disability in the full and equal enjoyment of the goods, services, facilities,

privileges, advantages, or accommodations of any place of public accommodation by any person

who owns, leases (or leases to), or operates a place of public accommodation.”  42 U.S.C. §

12182(a).  

3. Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973 (“Section 504") provides that “[n]o

otherwise qualified individual with a disability in the United States, . . .shall, solely by reason of

her or his disability, be excluded from the participation in, be denied the benefits of, or be

subjected to discrimination under any program or activity receiving Federal financial assistance   

. . . .  29 U.S.C. § 794(a).

4. Similarly, Title II of the ADA provides, “[N]o qualified individual with a

disability shall, by reason of such disability, be excluded from participation in or be denied the

benefits of the services, programs, or activities of a public entity, or be subjected to

discrimination by any [public] entity.”  42 U.S.C. § 12132.

5. One of the most fundamental rights all persons share is the right to bear children. 

Like non-disabled persons, people with disabilities use fertility clinics and reproductive services

to fulfill the achievement of this right.  The ADA and Section 504 prohibit discrimination based

on disability in the provision of these services.

6. Defendants are clinics, health care providers and physicians that provide

reproductive services to women for a fee.  Defendants discriminated against Plaintiff Kijuana

Chambers in the provision of these services by subjecting her, solely based on her blindness, to
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conditions not required of non-disabled patients and ultimately by refusing to provide her with

services solely because she is blind.

JURISDICTION

7. This Court has subject matter jurisdiction over this action pursuant to 28 U.S.C.

§§ 1331 and 1343.

8. Venue is proper within this District pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1391.

PARTIES

9. Plaintiff Kijuana Chambers is and was at all times material hereto a resident of

Colorado.  Ms. Chambers is blind, and as such, she is substantially impaired in the major life

activity of seeing.  Ms. Chambers was and is a “qualified individual with a disability,” as defined

in Title II of the ADA, 42 U.S.C. § 12115(2), and was and is an “otherwise qualified individual

with a disability” as defined in the Rehabilitation Act, 29 U.S.C. §§ 794a & 706(8).  Ms.

Chambers was qualified and eligible for and sought reproductive services from the Defendants,

Defendants undertook to provide reproductive services to Ms. Chambers because she was

qualified, but then Defendants discriminated against Ms. Chambers solely on the basis of her

disability in the provision of these services and, ultimately, refused to provide services solely on

the basis of her disability.

10. Defendant University Hospital, with its principal place of business located at

4200 East 9th Avenue, Denver, Colorado, 80262, and which operates the University of Colorado

Health Sciences Center’s Center for Reproductive Medicine, is a “public entity,” as that term is
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defined in 42 U.S.C. § 12115(1)(B).  On information and belief, University Hospital operates

programs and/or activities that receive federal funding.

11. Defendant M. H. Melmed, M. D., P.C. (“Melmed”), is a professional corporation

organized in the State of Colorado with its principal place of business at 701 East Hampden

Avenue, Suite 110, Englewood, Colorado 80110.  Melmed owns, leases (or leases to), and/or

operates a place of public accommodation, known as Rocky Mountain Women’s Health Care

Center (“RMWHCC”), 701 East Hampden Avenue, Suite 110, Englewood, Colorado 80110.  On

information and belief, Melmed receives federal funding.

12. Defendant Meir H. Melmed, M.D. (“Dr. Melmed”), is a physician with

RMWHCC, with a business address of 701 East Hampden Avenue, Suite 110, Englewood,

Colorado 80110, from whom Ms. Chambers sought reproductive services.  Dr. Melmed

discriminated against Ms. Chambers in providing reproductive services.  On information and

belief, Dr. Melmed operates a program or activity which receives federal funding.

13. Susan Toung Horvath, M.D. (“Dr. Horvath”), was a physician with RMWHCC,

with a business address of 701 East Hampden Avenue, Suite 110, Englewood, Colorado 80110,

from whom Ms. Chambers sought reproductive services.  Dr. Horvath discriminated against Ms.

Chambers in providing reproductive services.  On information and belief, Dr. Horvath operates a

program or activity which receives federal funding.

14. Richard J. Gudvangen, M.D. (“Dr. Gudvangen”), was a physician with

RMWHCC, with a business address of 701 East Hampden Avenue, Suite 110, Englewood,

Colorado 80110, from whom Ms. Chambers sought reproductive services.  Dr. Gudvangen
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discriminated against Ms. Chambers in providing reproductive services.  On information and

belief, Dr. Gudvangen operates a program or activity which receives federal funding.

15. Rocky Mountain Women’s Health Care Center, P.C. (“RMWHCC”), is a

professional corporation organized in the State of Colorado with its principal place of business at

701 East Hampden Avenue, Suite 110, Englewood, Colorado 80110.  RMWHCC owns, leases

(or leases to), and/or operates a place of public accommodation, known as Rocky Mountain

Women’s Health Care Center, 701 East Hampden Avenue, Suite 110, Englewood, Colorado

80110.  On information and belief, RMWHCC operates a program or activity which receives

federal funding.

16. William D. Schlaff, M.D. (“Dr. Schlaff”), is a physician with University of

Colorado Medical Services Foundation, d/b/a University Physicians, Inc.  Dr. Schlaff works

through and for the University of Colorado Health Sciences Center, the University of Colorado

School of Medicine and University Hospital.   Dr. Schlaff is the Professor/Chief of Reproductive

Endocrinology at the University of Colorado Health Sciences Center, located at 4200 East Ninth

Avenue, Denver, Colorado, 80262.  Ms. Chambers sought reproductive services from Dr.

Schlaff. Dr. Schlaff discriminated against Ms. Chambers in providing reproductive services.  On

information and belief, Dr. Schlaff operates a program or activity which receives federal

funding.

17. University of Colorado Medical Services Foundation, d/b/a University

Physicians, Inc. (“UPI”), is a Colorado nonprofit corporation, with its principal place of business

located at 5350 Leetsdale Drive, Suite 200, Denver, Colorado, 80222.  On information and



-6-

belief, UPI is a public accommodation under Title III of the ADA, employs, pays and/or

contracts with Dr. Schlaff and operates a program or activity which receives federal funding or

receives federal funding itself.

18. University of Colorado Health Sciences Center (“UCHSC”) is a public entity

under Title II of the ADA which serves as an educational institution and provides medical

services to patients.  It is located at 4200 East 9th Avenue, Denver, Colorado, 80262.  Ms.

Chambers was a patient at UCHSC and sought reproductive services through its Department of

Obstetrics and Gynecology Section of Reproductive Endocrinology (“the Department”). 

Through its employees, UCHSC and/or the Department, discriminated against Ms. Chambers. 

UCHSC and/or the Department receive/s federal funding.

19. University of Colorado School of Medicine (“UCSM”) is a public entity under

Title II of the ADA which serves as an educational institution and provides medical services to

patients.  It is located at 4200 East 9th Avenue, Denver, Colorado, 80262.  Ms. Chambers was a

patient at UCSM and sought reproductive services through its Department of Obstetrics and

Gynecology Section of Reproductive Endocrinology (“the Departmeent”).  Through its

employees, UCSM and/or the Department, discriminated against Ms. Chambers.  UCSM and/or

the Department operate/s a program or activity which receive/s federal funding.

20. The Regents of the University of Colorado (“Regents”) govern the operations of

the University of Colorado and UCHSC and, on information and belief, operate a program or

activity which receives federal funding.  Through the employees of UCHCS, UCSM, UPI and/or

University Hospital, the Regents discriminated against Ms. Chambers.
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21. University Hospital Authority (“Authority”) is a public entity under Title II of the

ADA, operates University Hospital, and, on information and belief, operate a program or activity

which receives federal funding.   Through the employees of UCHCS, UCSM, UPI and/or

University Hospital, the Authority discriminated against Ms. Chambers.

GENERAL ALLEGATIONS

22. Ms. Chambers spent time, conducted research and engaged in preparation prior to

seeking the assistance of a fertility clinic to become pregnant.  She carefully considered this

decision and took steps to assure herself that she was prepared.

23. In or about August of 1997, Ms. Chambers went to the University of Colorado

Health Sciences Center’s Center for Reproductive Medicine (“Center”) because she wanted to

become pregnant.

24. The Center through its employees undertook to provide Ms. Chambers with

reproductive services, including, without limitation, prescribing fertility medication which Ms.

Chambers took, subjecting her to medical procedures and inseminating Ms. Chambers.

25. Ms. Chambers was a patient of the Center from approximately August, 1997, until

approximately January, 1999.

26. Solely because of Ms. Chambers’ blindness, however, the Center through its

employees  discriminated against Ms. Chambers.  For example:

a. Solely due to Ms. Chambers’ blindness, they conditioned Ms. Chambers’

services upon her seeing a psychologist;
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b. Solely due to Ms. Chambers’ blindness, they conditioned Ms. Chambers’

services upon her receiving assistance from agencies that provide services

to people with disabilities;

c. Solely due to Ms. Chambers’ blindness, they conditioned Ms. Chambers’

services upon her proving that she could parent a child as a blind

individual.

27. On information and belief, the Center does not require its non-disabled patients to

submit to the conditions listed in paragraph 26 in order to receive services.

28. After months of treatment, in or about January of 1999, the Center through its

employees refused to provide further services to Ms. Chambers solely due to her blindness.

29. The Center refused to provide Ms. Chambers with services because she is blind.

30. In or about May of 1999, Ms. Chambers went to Rocky Mountain Women’s

Health Care Center (“RMWHCC”) because she wanted to become pregnant.

31. During a consultation with RMWHCC employees, Ms. Chambers was asked

questions about how she as a person who is blind could be a parent.

32. After the initial consultation, RMWHCC employees undertook to provide Ms.

Chambers with reproductive services, including, without limitation, prescribing fertility

medication which Ms. Chambers took, subjecting her to numerous medical procedures and

inseminating Ms. Chambers on several occasions.

33. Ms. Chambers was a patient of RMWHCC approximately May, 1999, until

approximately November, 1999.
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34. Solely because of Ms. Chambers’ blindness, RMWHCC employees discriminated

against Ms. Chambers.  For example:

a. Solely due to Ms. Chambers’ blindness, they conditioned Ms. Chambers’

services upon her seeing an occupational therapist and providing

documentation;

b. Solely due to Ms. Chambers’ blindness, they conditioned Ms. Chambers’

services upon her receiving assistance from agencies that provide services

to people with disabilities and providing documentation.

c. Solely due to Ms. Chambers’ blindness, they conditioned Ms. Chambers’

services upon her proving that she could parent a child as a blind

individual.

35. On information and belief, RMWHCC does not require its non-disabled patients

to submit to the conditions listed in paragraph 34 in order to receive services.

36. After months of treatment, medication and medical procedures, in or about

November of 1999, RMWHCC refused to provide further services to Ms. Chambers solely due

to Ms. Chambers’ blindness.

37. RMWHCC refused to provide Ms. Chambers with services because she is blind.

38. The employees and agents of Defendants engaged in discriminatory practices

with malice or with reckless indifference to Ms. Chambers’ federally protected rights.

39. On information and belief, Defendants would refuse to provide Ms. Chambers

with reproductive services to Ms. Chambers in the future because she is blind.
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FIRST CLAIM FOR RELIEF
(Violation of the Americans with Disabilities Act)

40. Plaintiff realleges and incorporates by reference the allegations set forth in

paragraphs 1 - 39 above as if fully set forth herein.

41. Title III  of the ADA prohibits public accommodations from discriminating

on the basis of disability in the full and equal enjoyment of the goods, services, facilities,

privileges, advantages, or accommodations of any place of public accommodation by any person

who owns, leases (or leases to), or operates a place of public accommodation.  42 U.S.C. §

12182(a).

42. Title II of the ADA provides that no qualified individual with a disability shall, by

reason of such disability, be excluded from participation in or be denied the benefits of the

services, programs, or activities of a public entity, or be subjected to discrimination by any such

entity.  42 U.S.C. § 12132.

43. Defendants University Hospital, M. H. Melmed, M.D., P.C., Rocky Mountain

Women’s Health Care Center, University of Colorado Medical Services Foundation, d/b/a

University Physicians, Inc., University of Colorado Health Sciences Center, University of

Colorado School of Medicine, Regents of the University of Colorado, and University Hospital

Authority, are either are public accommodations,  42 U.S.C. § 12181(7)(F), or public entities, 42

U.S.C. § 12115(1), covered by the ADA.

44. Defendants violated the ADA by discriminating against Plaintiff and by denying

Plaintiff services solely due to her blindness.
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45. Plaintiff has been damaged and will continue to be damaged by this

discrimination as more fully set forth above. 

SECOND CLAIM FOR RELIEF
(Violation of Rehabilitation Act)

46. Plaintiff realleges and incorporates by reference the allegations set forth in

paragraphs 1 - 45 above as if fully set forth herein.

39.          The Rehabilitation Act prohibits recipients of federal funding from denying, on

the basis of disability, the benefits provided by the recipient, or from subjecting persons with

disabilities to discrimination.  29 U.S.C. § 794.

40.          On information and belief, Defendants operate programs and/or activities which

receive federal funding.

41.          Defendants violated the Rehabilitation Act by discriminating against Plaintiff

and by denying Plaintiff services.

42.          Plaintiff has been damaged and will continue to be damaged by this

discrimination as more fully set forth above. 

PRAYER FOR RELIEF

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff respectfully prays:

1. That this Court assume jurisdiction;

2. That this Court issue an order declaring Defendants to be in violation of the ADA

and Section 504;
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3. That this Court issue an injunction ordering Defendants to bring their

reproductive services and programs into compliance with the ADA and Section 504;

4. That this Court award damages to Plaintiff;

5. That this court award punitive damages to Plaintiff;

6. That this Court award to Plaintiffs their reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs; and

7. That this Court award such additional or alternative relief as may be just, proper

and equitable. 

JURY DEMAND: Plaintiffs demand a jury on all issues which can be heard by a jury.

Respectfully submitted,

COLORADO CROSS-DISABILITY COALITION

                                     
Kevin W. Williams
General Counsel 
655 Broadway
Suite 775
Denver, CO 80203
(303) 839-1775

Scott LaBarre
LaBarre Law Offices, P.C.
1660 South Albion Street
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Suite 918
Denver, Colorado 80222
(303) 504.5979

 
Dated: Attorneys for Plaintiffs

Address of Plaintiff Kijuana Chambers

3088 West 17th Avenue
Denver, Colorado 80204


